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Massachusetts Mills, Cloth Room/Section 15 P

Location:

Dates of Construction:

Builder:

Present Owner:

Present Use:

Significance:

HAER No. MA-89-A

95 Bridge Street
lowell Locks and Canals Historic District
Lowell, Middlesex County, Massachusetts

UTM: E-311000 N-4724000
Quad: Lowell

1839; ca. 1852; 1876-84; 1884-93; 1893-96: 1906-06; 1906-
1910; 1924-36; ca. 1935

Proprietors of Locks and Canals
Lowell, MA

Massachusetts Mills Limited Partnership II
c/o Joseph R, Mullins Company

Suite 306

25 Braintree Hill Park

Braintree, MA 02184

Vacant. Cloth Room/Section 15 was formerly occupied by
Sullivan Brothers Printing Company, Inc. until July 15,
1989, and engaged in printing of business and racing
forms.

The Cloth Room/Section 15 is part of the Massachusetts
Mills complex, a former cotton textile manufactory
significant in industrial history of the nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries, and as part of the Lowell
Locks and Canal Historic District, a National Historic
Landmark District. The Cloth Room, a contributing
building, was erected in 1839 and continuocusly expanded
and altered through ca, 1935, when a major addition on
the northwest side was demolished, resulting in its
current configuration. The building was originally used
for storage of raw cotton, and later for a variety of
uses associated with cloth finishing, packing and
shipping. Massachusetts Mills ceased operations in 1928;
since 1937, the building has been used by the Sullivan
Brothers Printing Company for printing of business and
racing forms.
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Project Information
Statement: This documentation was undertaken in April-July 1989 in
accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement by the City
of Lowell, Massachusetts, as a mitigative measure prior
to rehabilitation of the Massachusetts Mills for housing
and the demolition of the Cloth Room/Section 15.

Christopher W. Closs/Valery Mitchell
Closs Planners, Inc.
Concord, NH 03301

CLOTH ROOM/SECTION 15

Situated on the central western portion of the Massachusetts Mills site lies the
Cloth Room/Section 15. This building is bounded by the Eastern Canal and Bridge
Street on the northwest; the original entrance drive and the Napping Building/
Section 12 on the southwest; the north entrance drive on the northeast, with Mill
No. 2 beyond; and the Waste House/Section 16 on the southeast, with Mill No. 1
behind it. The building apron and immediate site area are covered with asphalt
for wvehicular circulation, and a paved parking lot exists northwest of the
building, on the site of former Storehouses A" and "B". A large penstock passes
diagonally under this parking area and the northwest portion of the building,
carrying feedwater to Mill No. 2/Sections 4 and 5, and the Main Power House/
Section 18 beyond. A second subsurface penstock closely parallels the northeast
elevation of the building. To the southwest, the steel bridge spanning the
Eastern Canal at the main entry drive, stands immediately adjacent to the office
entrance, The Cloth Room site is 47,497 square feet in area.

The Cloth Room is composed of two red brick, flat-roofed sections, 19 by 14 bays
overall, three stories in height and an irregular peolygon in plan (see Sketch
Floor Plans on pages 10-13). The southwest corner of the southern section
contains three bays and an office entrance., This elevation is canted to conform
with the end in the Eastern Canal. The southern section of the building (1893-
1896) is smaller in area than the northern segment, creating differential wall
planes on the west and east facades. The third story and sawtooth monitor roof
wvere added in 1904-1906, when the meorthern half was built.

The building, which is utilitarian in style, has three elevations of nearly
uniform design, with evenly-spaced wooden windows of eight-over-eight light
configuration set in undecorated, low arched surrounds on all three stories.
Exposed wooden eaves and cornice are sheathed in deteriorating sheet metal. On
the northern half, parapets finish the northwest facade {(created ca. 1935) and
the southeast facade (added at an unknown date).
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The load-bearing masonry walls are of common red brick laid in American or commaon
bond, in a one-in-eight pattern, using untinted lime mortar. The foundation is
od granite rubble with dressed capstones. Window sills are of rock-faced gray
granite.

The northeast elevation has 20 bays and is covered in stucco. This elevation
has regular fenestration but larger rectangular windows with steel sash in a
5/10/15 configuration of lights, which were added between 1924 and 1936. A one-
story shed addition {ca. 1906-1910), which extends two bays short of the length
of this facade, is also stuccoed.

The southeast elevation, like the northwest, has walls which are not coplanar.
There are 17 bays and fenestration is regular. This has been interrupted by mid-
twentieth century alterations of three original window openings to create twa
large freight delivery doors. These are located in the center of each of the
wall planes, the northerly opening at the second story and the southerly one at
grade. A large steel I-beam, supported on a small brick parapet, projects from
the roofline directly over the north opening and was used as a hoist. The north
addition elevation is recessed and has two bays, one of these a double-door
entrance. A single, double-leaf entry door provides access to the internal stair
tower at the extreme south end.

The southwest elevation has regular fenestration and is expressed with 14 bays.
A loading dock with concrete platforms and a suspended flat roof above, is
located at the west end of the first story. A rectangular sign, "Sullivan Bros,
Printers,” is mounted on the third story and partially obscures he first two bays
at the west end. All first story windows are boarded in for security.

At the south end of the southeast elevation, a one-story steel-framed, Pratt
truss bridge, linking the third story of the Cloth Room with the adjacent Nappling
Building, extends from the second bay from the corner. This structure is clad
with corrugated sheet iron painted gray, and has a poured concrete floor. There
are three bays on the northeast elevation, two on the southwest. These openings
are filled with steel, six-light sash. The steel bridge stringers are set into
the masonry walls of the two buildings, and the chords are reinforced with a pair
of legs near each end. The legs consist of two steel piles set vertically, one
beneath each chord, and tied together with X-bracing at the first and second
story levels. All joint connections employ rivets. The structure was erected
in 1911 and spans the original main entrance drive.

The northwest elevation of the Cloth Room consists of 12 bays, with regular
fenestration. There are two bays on the narrow southwest elevation at the
transition between the two sections of the building, and one bay at the end of
the one-story north addition. There are two entrances at the first story on the
northern half. This portion of the elevation, whose brick ig laid in uneven
courses and is now painted, shows evidence of the former interior east wall and
fenestration of Cotton Storéhouse "B", expanded ca. 1883-1893, and demolished
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in 1935. On this elevation, there are two Sullivan Brothers Printers signs; one
painted on the low parapet of the north portion, and the second, a sign board
with letters in relief, fastened to the spandrels between the second and third
stories.

The canted, three-bay west elevation is reached by way of a steel and concrete
footbridge spanning the Eastern Canal. The single-leaf entry door to the office
is covered with a simple, gabled wooden hood.

The flat, asphalt gravel composition roof has five sawtooth monitors. These face
north and illuminate only the central portion of the third-story. A single-much
smaller, monitor appoints the roof of the 1906-1910 shed addition near the east
end.

The interior of the Cloth Room is primarily composed of open space, articulated
only by the exposed, slow-burning heavy timber intermal framework. Wall and
ceiling surfaces have all been painted white, while the painted wainscot is gray.
Partitioning for private offices is constructed with gypsum wallboard applied
to wooden gtuds and is of mid-twentieth century origin.

In the basement, which remained unpainted, headroom is wvery low and the space
is expressed with a virtual forest of brick, bell-bottomed piers, which support
the three levels of cast iron columns above. Steam, sprinkler and electrical
lines criss-cross the ceiling and/or are suspended from the beams. The floor
is concreted and standing water, from leaks in the foundation adjacent to the
Eastern Canal and the penstocks, is usually found. A granite foundation wall,
a vestige from the original 1839 Cotton House, divides the basement space in
half, running on a southeast-northwest axis. A single communicating passage hAs
been punched through this structure, near the west end.

The first and second floers are similar in character and construetion. There
are entrances at all four corners of this level. The office of Sullivan Brothers
Printers is located in the southwest corner and is approximately 15' by 50’ in

size. Except for contemporary partitioning, the finishes and feAtures arxe
typical of the exposed structure in the rest of the building. There is an
additional row of partitioned office cubicles along the southwest wall. The

vestigial wall of the first story of the original 1839 Cotton House appears
again, dividing the space and terminating at the first floor ceiling level.
Constructed of older, smaller brick, the only identifying marks on this structure
are the original window openings, long since bricked in. Except for the two
internal stair towers, located in the northwest and southeast corners, the first
and second floors are clear space, punctuated only by the evenly-spaced rows of
cast iron columns.
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The 1906-1010 shed addition on the northeast side of the first floor is accesgsed
through the original window bays, where only the frames sutvive. This structure,
constructed with heavy timbers in clearspan fashion, is naturally illuminated
both by the continuous wall of windows and the small, five-bay roof monitor.

The third story follows the same structural configuration as the floors below,
but the space, like the second floor, is undivided. The five sawtooth monitors
illuminate the center portion of this floor, while the windows light the
perimeter. The roof monitors are also constructed with heavy timbers, chamfered
at the corners and joined with mortise and tenons. Ceilings, like the floors
below, are finished with beaded, tongue-and-greove matched boards.

Cast iron columns are typical throughout and have simple, untapered shafts
measuring 5-1/2" in diameter, which culminate with capitals composed of torus
and scotia moldings and an integral, oversize flat sheatr cap, drilled for four
lag bolts. All beams are joined over the center of each column. Timbers are
12" by 14" deep in section and are hard pine or fir.

The two aforementioned stair towers are constructed with wooden stringers and
treads, and are enclosed with tongue-and-groove, matched hoards. The southeast
stair is a quarter-turn design with winders, while the northwest stair is a dog-
leg type, with intermediate landings between each level. Both have molded
railings with beaded, matched board wainscots, and square newel posts with turned
caps.

All floors above the basement level are hardwood tongue-and-groove surfaces.
In some areas, floors have bheen topped with concrete for machine bases or in
heavy wear areas.

The Cloth Room has metamorphosed considerably throughout the period of
significance for Massachusetts Mills (1821-1928). According to insurance
underwriter’s maps, the northern half of the Cloth Room stands on the site of
the Cotton House of 1839-1841. The original Cotton House was a Greek RevivAal
style, two-story, gable-roofed rectangular brick structure, with granite lintels
(see Exhibit & - Figure 1 on page 14). About 1852, a four and one-half-story
Cotton House was added to its northwest wall (see Exhibit A - Figure 2 on page
14) and this, in turn, was enlarged and raised to six stories between 1884 and
1893 (see Exhibit A - Figure 4 on page 15). The original Cotton House was
modified between 1876-1884, when it was raised to three stories and covered with
a low-pitched roof (see Exhibit A -Figure 3 on page 14). The western one-third
and end wall of the Cotton House of 1839 was presumably demolished in 1893-189%6,
as the now-exposed openings of the west elevation are distinctly late nineteenth
century in style. A six-story stair tower, cut into the northwest corner of the
old Cotton House, served both structures.
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The date of construction of the southern half of the Cloth Room, which was
attached to the southwest elevation of the old Cotton House, is unclear, but
probably took place between 1893-1896 (see Exhibit A - Figure 5 on page 16).
For this section, both physical and documentary evidence indicate that the
northeast and southeast walls and the foundations of the Cotton House were
demolished. The southwest wall of the Cotton House was reduced to one-story and
substantially altered. Cranite lintels were removed, windows were bricked in,
and new doorways opened. Thus, over time, all four walls of the 1839 Cotton
House were demolished, except for the fragment of the radically-altered first
floor and basement southwest wall,

Both halves of the Cloth Room were subseqguently altered extensively. A thizd
story and a monitor roof were added between 1904-1906 to the southern half of
the building. A loading bay on the southwest canted elevation has been altered
to an entrance, changing the orientation of the structure, and two new shipping
bays were cut into its southeast facade. The northern half has undergone
extensive alterations, affecting all three of the elevations. The northeast
wall, which may have originally been masonry, is now frame above the level of
the first floor plate, A shed addition, apparently built several years later
(see Exhibit A - Figure 6 on page 16), and this facade were both refenestrated
ca. 1924-1936 with metal windows, completely filling the bays between the piers,
At this time, the facade and shed were altered, and a new parapet, hoist, and
new loading bays were introduced. Finally, on the northwest elevation,
Storehouses "A" and "B" were demolished in ca. 1935, leaving a patchwork of ca.
1884-1893 party wall and new construction as the Cloth Room's exterior wall
facing Bridge Street (see Exhibit A - Figure 7 on page 17).

Close inspection of the Cloth Room reveals some serious structural deficiencies,
Foundation settlement at the east and west ends of the north section, probably
caused by liquefaction of the seoil at the footings, has caused separation of both
projecting walls and left obvicus vertical and diagonal cracks in the brick
masonry. In the men’s locker room area {second floor), a severe crack has opened
where both settlement and separation are obvicus. This damage may have been
caused by the penstock which runs from the Eastern GCanal to Mill No. 2, passing
closely along the footings on the east side of the Cloth Room. Similar damage
is evident on the Napping Building (northwest corner) and results from either
progressive leaks in the penstock or partial collapse of the masonry or steel
tube wall, Reasons for the partial structural failure of the northwest wall are
unknown: but may be related to the other penstock which served Mill No. 4, or to
damage caused when Steorehouses "A" and "B" were removed.

Examination of the internal structural support system in the basement provides
indicators of further loss of integrity, particularly in the north addition.
Numerous floor timbers, punctuated with old pocket mortises, show evidence that
these parts were salvaged from an earlier structure (possibly the original Gotton
House) and integrated into the first floor plan. Some of these timbers were

turned upside down when reused. The original pier lines have lost their
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coherence, due to the random introduction of many intermediate supports. Posts
added, apparently to reinforce sagging or rotted main span floor joists, include
wood, steel, and brick piers. Fire evidence was found on the basement ceiling
along the north wall, but has been repaired. In general, the south section of
the Cloth Room is in better physical condition than its noerth counterpart,
although both share the flood hazard problem.

The 1939 Cotton House originally functioned as storage for raw material. 1In
1852, a storehouse was added on its northwest end. By 1875, the combined
structures were divided into a cotton room storing raw cotton, a general
storeroom, a hose room storing fire-fighting equipment, and a cloth room. By
1911, the Cloth Room has been expanded to its present physical configuration,
and its interior devoted to a sequence of finishing procedures. These included
brushing, calendaring and napping on the first floor; napping and pressing on
the second floor; and dry finishing, inspecting and packing on the third floor.
Since 1937, the building has been used by Sullivan Brothers Printers, in printing
business and racing forms. Exhibit B, on page 18, shows the relationship of the
function of the Cloth Room within the context of the overall operation, where
raw cotton was manufactured into flanmnels, denims, stripes, plaids and chambrays.

No original machinery or equipment from the period of significance has remained
in the building.

The Gloth Room of 1893-1896/1906-1910 is the final manifestation of a continually
changing plan of exXpansion and contraction spanning a period of 65 years, which
was based on limited potential for expansion on-site, storage capacity demands.
fire and insurance considerations and, finally, the realities of real estate
taxes and a declining regional economic base in the textile industry.

The Cloth Room, a secondary structure, is distinguished from the principal
buildings of the Massachusetts Mills complex, whose atrchitectural styles range
from Greek Revival and Italianate modes through the vocabulary of Panel Brick,
by its distinct lack of architectural treatment. The building, strictly
utilitarian in form and limited in ornament, is stylistically remote from the
other buildings which surround it, but does share a common, although remarkable,
architectural vocabulary of brick and grant masonry and mill frame construction
found througheut the complex and the histeric district,

A rational design, both in plan and setting, did underlie the construction of
the original 1839 Cotton House, but is not apparent in the amorphous pile which
comprises the existing building, a combination of earlier structures and
additional sections, stories, deletions and alteratioms. Built during the
decline in the corporation's history, the building reflects fiscal austerity in
design and diminished concern for architectural harmeny with the great facades
of the main mill buildings.
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EXHIBIT A

Mill 4 Mill 3

L )

I I A

Hillyard
2177 J
1839 Cotton House
. Construction Evolution of

1839 Cotton House (Cloth Room; A0
Sullivan Building) 1839 - 1936 |
Prepared by Charles Parrott for Ffé T
Lowell Historic Preservation Commission
1985

-

t_]

(557,

Fila 2




MASSACHUSETTS MILLS,
CLOTH ROOM/SECTION 15:
HAER NO.MA-8S-A (Page-15)

GRAPHIC DOCUMENTATION

EXHIBIT A (continued)
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EXHIBIT A {continued)
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Plan of Massachusetts Cotton Mills, Lowell, MA
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